

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

PNNL-21550

Geochemical Implications of CO₂ Leakage Associated with Geologic Storage: A Review

OR Harvey NP Qafoku KJ Cantrell CF Brown

July 2012



Proudly Operated by Battelle Since 1965

DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor Battelle Memorial Institute, nor any of their employees, makes **any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights**. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof, or Battelle Memorial Institute. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

PACIFIC NORTHWEST NATIONAL LABORATORY operated by BATTELLE for the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Printed in the United States of America

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from the Office of Scientific and Technical Information, P.O. Box 62, Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062; ph: (865) 576-8401 fax: (865) 576-5728 email: reports@adonis.osti.gov

Available to the public from the National Technical Information Service 5301 Shawnee Rd., Alexandria, VA 22312 ph: (800) 553-NTIS (6847) email: <u>orders@ntis.gov</u> orders@ntis.gov Online ordering: http://www.ntis.gov



PNNL-21550

Geochemical Implications of CO₂ Leakage Associated with Geologic Storage: A Review

OR Harvey KJ Cantrell NP Qafoku CF Brown

July 2012

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, Washington 99352

Abstract

Leakage from deep storage reservoirs is a major risk factor associated with geologic sequestration of carbon dioxide (CO₂). Different scientific theories exist concerning the potential implications of such leakage for near-surface environments. The authors of this report reviewed the current literature on how CO_2 leakage (from storage reservoirs) would likely impact the geochemistry of near surface environments such as potable water aquifers and the vadose zone.

Experimental and modeling studies highlighted the potential for both beneficial (e.g., CO_2 re-sequestration or contaminant immobilization) and deleterious (e.g., contaminant mobilization) consequences of CO_2 intrusion in these systems. Current knowledge gaps, including the role of CO_2 -induced changes in redox conditions, the influence of CO_2 influx rate, gas composition, organic matter content and microorganisms are discussed in terms of their potential influence on pertinent geochemical processes and the potential for beneficial or deleterious outcomes.

Geochemical modeling was used to systematically highlight why closing these knowledge gaps are pivotal. A framework for studying and assessing consequences associated with each factor is also presented in Section 5.6.

Acknowledgments

Funding was provided through the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Fossil Energy under contract DE-AC05-76RL01830. The authors are grateful to Drs. Hongbo Shao and Wooyong Um (Pacific Northwest National Laboratory), Susan Carroll (Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory) and Nic Spycher (Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory) who reviewed an earlier version of this report and provided valuable comments and suggestions.

Contents

Abs	tract.		iii		
Acknowledgments					
1.0) Introduction				
2.0	2.0 Carbon Dioxide in Subsurface Environments				
	2.1	CO ₂ -Induced Changes in Aqueous Phase pH	3		
3.0	Beneficial CO ₂ -Induced Interactions in the Near Surface Environments		4		
	3.1	CO ₂ Re-sequestration	4		
	3.2	Contaminant Immobilization	5		
4.0	eterious CO ₂ Interactions in Near Surface Environments	6			
	4.1	Mobilization of Contaminants	6		
	4.2	Other Water Quality Parameters	7		
5.0	Knowledge Gaps and Research Needs				
	5.1	Importance of CO ₂ Intrusion Rates	9		
	5.2	Importance of Co-Injected/Co-Transported Gas	11		
	5.3	Importance of Native Aquifer Gases	12		
	5.4	Importance of Organic Matter and Microorganisms	13		
	5.5	Importance of Sediment Mineralogy	15		
	5.6	Need for Experimental and Assessment Protocols	16		
6.0	0.0 References				
App	endix	A – Model Input Data, Modeling Approach and Construction of Pourbaix (pH-Eh) Diagrams	A.1		

Figures

5.1	Predicted changes in pH and Eh at different CO ₂ intrusion rates, and implications for aqueous speciation of (a) CO ₂ , (b) Fe, (c) Pb, and (d) As	10
5.2	Predicted changes in pH and Eh with composition of intruding gas, and implications for aqueous speciation of (a) Fe and (b) As	11
5.3	Predicted changes in pH and Eh with CH ₄ content of intruding gas, and implications for aqueous speciation of (a) Fe and (b) As	13
5.4	A conceptual framework for assessing geochemical impact of CO ₂ on near surface environments	18

1.0 Introduction

The capture and storage of CO₂ in deep geologic formations (or geologic CO₂ sequestration) is widely considered a feasible option for reducing anthropogenic loadings of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere (Bergman and Winter 1995; Bachu 2000; Herzog 2001; Bachu and Adams 2003; Metz et al. 2005; Michael et al. 2010; Goodman et al. 2011; Benson and Cole 2008). Although oil and gas reservoirs (Kovscek 2002; Bachu and Shaw 2003; Hovorka et al. 2009; Esposito et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2011) and unmineable coal seams (White et al. 2005; Faiz et al. 2007a; Kronimus et al. 2008a) formations have been identified as potential geologic repositories for CO₂, deep (often saline) nonpotable aquifers are preferred and are the most widely studied. Reasons include ubiquity, availability of mature technology, high storage capacities, and the potential for CO₂ conversion to carbonate minerals (Bachu and Adams 2003; Goldberg et al. 2008, 2010; McGrail et al. 2006). Estimates for CO₂ storage capacity in single, deep nonpotable aquifers range from 10⁻² to 10⁴ Gt (Herzog 2001; McGrail et al. 2006; Goldberg et al. 2008; Gislason et al. 2010; Donda et al. 2011; Medina et al. 2011) and would be sufficient for storing decades to centuries of future CO₂ emissions. For example, the estimated CO₂ storage capacity of deep basaltic aquifers on the Juan de Fuca ridge off Vancouver Island (part of British Columbia and northwestern Washington State), is believed to be equivalent to about 122-147 years of U.S. future CO₂ emissions (Goldberg et al. 2008).

Despite apparent promise, a major risk factor and potential barrier to widespread deployment of geologic CO₂ sequestration is leakage of CO₂ from the storage aquifer (Metz et al. 2005; Celia and Nordbotten 2009; Holloway et al. 2007; Shaffer 2010; Bachu 2008; Wilson et al. 2007; Celia and Bachu 2003). Shaffer (2010) suggested that leakage of 1% or less per thousand years from a storage reservoir, or continuous re-sequestration, would be required to maintain atmospheric CO₂ concentrations close to those projected for alternative approaches (e.g., lowering emissions). Concerns with CO₂ leakage may be considered globally or locally (Metz et al. 2005; Bachu 2008). On a global scale, increased atmospheric CO₂ concentration due to leakage of previously sequestered CO₂ is of greatest concern to the scientific community. Some global assessments indicate that even with leakage up to 2%, geologic sequestration would still be viable (van der Zwaan 2009; Hepple and Benson 2005; Pacala 2003). Hence, with 1000-year storage capabilities now approaching 99%, concerns about geological sequestration on a global scale will likely be a nonissue in the near future (Metz et al. 2005).

Locally, two CO_2 leakage scenarios are of concern (Metz et al. 2005; Bachu 2008). The first is where there is a sudden, fast and short-lived release of CO_2 as would occur in the case of well failure during injection or spontaneous blowouts (Holloway et al. 2007; Jordan and Benson 2009; Damen et al. 2005; Skinner et al. 2003). In general, this leakage scenario is anticipated to be rare (on the order of 1 every 10^5 wells year⁻¹) with environmental damage confined to the vicinity of the accident (Holloway et al. 2007; Jordan and Benson 2009). However, in cases where CO_2 concentrations are high enough, there is the potential for loss of human and animal life (Bachu 2008; Hepple 2005). The second local leakage scenario is where the leak is more gradual, occurring along undetected faults, fractures or well linings (Celia and Nordbotten 2009; Bachu 2008; Damen et al. 2005; Nordbotten et al. 2005; Scherer et al. 2011; Lewicki et al. 2007; Annunziatellis et al. 2008). Without rigorous monitoring, such diffusive leakage may go undetected for prolonged periods of time, and has the greatest potential to cause broad-scale environmental impacts (Metz et al. 2005; Bachu 2008; Damen et al. 2005). Knowledge on specific environmental consequences associated with leakage from geologic sequestration of CO₂ is continually evolving. Gaus et al. (2010) recently reviewed the literature pertinent to the effect of CO₂-rock interactions on rock porosity and permeability in deep formations suitable for CO₂ sequestration. Lemieux (2011) also reviewed the literature on what he termed "near-field" and "far-field" impacts of geological CO₂ sequestration on shallow groundwater. In this report, the current literature on the geochemical implications associated with CO₂ leakage from deep storage formations to near-surface environments is reviewed and synthesized. Specific attention is paid to CO₂-induced effects on pertinent geochemical processes (e.g., dissolution/precipitation and adsorption/desorption) and potential beneficial or deleterious consequences. Gaps in current knowledge and areas of future research are identified and discussed in the context of these processes. When possible, geochemical modeling was used to illustrate why closing current knowledge gaps is pivotal.

2.0 Carbon Dioxide in Subsurface Environments

In deep geologic formations suitable for CO_2 sequestration, the temperature and pressure conditions typically exceed those of the critical point of CO_2 (31.1°C/7.38 megapascals [MPa]). The CO_2 in storage aquifers will therefore exist primarily as a supercritical fluid (Celia and Nordbotten 2009; Bachu 2008; Bachu 2003). Several mechanisms for the sequestration of this supercritical CO_2 (sc CO_2) in deep aquifers have been identified:

- 1. Geologic trapping through physical containment by geologic features
- 2. Solubility trapping through dissolution in the formation water or residual oil
- 3. Mineral trapping through the formation of carbonate minerals
- 4. Hydrodynamic trapping due to difference in viscosity between the CO₂ plume and formation water
- 5. Capillary trapping where CO₂ is held in formation due to capillary forces (Bachu and Adams 2003b; Han et al. 2010a; Carneiro 2009; Saadatpoor and Sepehrnoori 2010).

In uneconomical coal-bed formations, sorption of CO_2 to the coal surface is the primary sequestration mechanism identified (White et al. 2005; Bachu 2007; Ross et al. 2009; Kronimus et al. 2008b; Faiz et al. 2007b).

It is difficult to ascertain how much CO_2 is sequestered by a specific mechanism; however, estimates on coal-bed storage capacity indicate accessibility to sorption sites of less than 60% for CO_2 sequestration (Bachu 2007; Kronimus et al. 2008b; Faiz et al. 2007b). In the early years of sequestration in deep aquifers and reservoirs, geologic trapping of CO_2 is expected to be dominant with solubility, hydrodynamic and mineral trapping becoming increasing significant with time (Metz et al. 2005; Bachu 2008; Han et al. 2010a). Several studies (Han et al. 2010b; Gunter et al. 1997; Wilkinson et al. 2009; Moore et al. 2005) suggest that even after centuries of operation, CO_2 sequestration via mineral trapping might be extremely small (less than 0.5%) in sedimentary formations.

Except at depths exceeding around 2000 m, $scCO_2$ will be less dense than the formation water (Bachu 2003). Any CO₂ not sequestered via solubility or mineral trapping would therefore be expected to form a buoyant $scCO_2$ plume within the storage aquifer. The distribution of CO₂ between the supercritical plume and aqueous phase (CO₂ sequestered via solubility trapping) will depend on aquifer temperature and

pressure, as well as formation water composition (Celia and Nordbotten 2009; Bachu 2003; Duan and Sun 2003; Kharaka et al. 2006). The reactivity of both phases towards geologic and manmade materials (e.g., cement and steel used in well construction) has been extensively studied under conditions consistent with deep storage formations (Loring et al. 2011; McGrail et al. 2009; Bearat et al. 2006; Shao et al. 2010a, 2010b, 2011; Hu et al. 2011; Jacquemet et al. 2008; Kutchko et al. 2007, 2008, 2009; Lu et al. 2011; Regnault et al. 2005; Palandri et al. 2005; Soong et al. 2004; Kaszuba et al. 2003; Sorai et al. 2003). Although results from some of these studies are discussed in this report, reactions in deep storage aquifers are not the primary focus of this review.

It is the CO_2 that would migrate upward (in the case of a leak) from the storage aquifer, through various leakage paths and into near surface environments (e.g., potable aquifers or vadose zone) that is of primary concern in this review. Celia and Nordbotten (2009) provide a good overview of leakage pathways and their significance. In contrast to deep storage aquifers, temperature and pressure conditions in near surface environments, where most potable water aquifers can be found, are below the critical point of CO_2 . Under these subcritical conditions, CO_2 exists predominantly in the gaseous phase. If CO_2 leaks from the storage aquifer, it is the lower pressure and temperature conditions (associated with near surface environments) that drive the transition of CO_2 from its supercritical-fluid to subcritical-gas phase.

What happens to the leaked CO_2 gas after migrating from the deep storage aquifer and reservoir depends largely on the physical and chemical characteristics of the receiving subsurface environment. For instance, although the potential for re-sequestration in the vadose zone does exist, in the absence of a confining zone (e.g., a confined aquifer), some of the leaked CO_2 will eventually diffuse into the atmosphere (Oldenburg and Unger 2003; Klusman 2003). Klusman (2003) estimated that about 170 tons of CO_2 is lost annually through leakage from deep storage to the atmosphere, at the Rangely CO_2 -Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) site in Colorado. If a confining zone was present above the injection zone at Rangely, losses of CO_2 to the atmosphere would be significantly less due to physical containment of the gas, as well as continued dissolution of CO_2 into the groundwater. It is the chemical reactivity of this dissolved CO_2 phase in solution, especially its effect on aqueous phase pH, that drives the current thoughts on the potential impact of CO_2 leakage (from deep storage reservoirs) on the geochemistry of near surface environments.

2.1 CO₂-Induced Changes in Aqueous Phase pH

The dissolution of CO_2 in water to form carbonic acid and its subsequent dissociation is known to cause a decrease in pH as a result of aqueous phase proton enrichment:

$$CO_2(g) + H_2O \leftrightarrow H_2CO_3 \leftrightarrow HCO_3(aq) + H^+(aq)$$
 (1)

Changes in pH and the production of HCO_3^- will influence or control the dissolution of minerals and the subsequent release of chemical elements and contaminants into the aqueous phase, as well as precipitation reactions and formation of neophases. In addition, these changes may significantly affect the extent and rate of chemical, biological, and hydrological processes and reactions, which may control contaminant mobility in the subsurface.

Experimental and modeling studies indicate that CO_2 intrusion into the vadose zone or potable aquifers could induce a decrease in aqueous pH of 1 to 3 units (Altevogt and Jaffe 2005; Little and Jackson 2010; Lu et al. 2010; Vong et al. 2011; Wang and Jaffe 2004; Wei et al. 2011; Wilkin and

DiGiulio 2010; Zheng et al. 2009; Kharaka et al. 2010). Decreases in pH on the lower end is typical of well-buffered systems where CO_2 -induced dissolution of reactive carbonates (Equation 2), feldspars (Equation 3), and/or the dissolution/precipitation of clays (Equation 3 and 4) provide enough buffering capacity (via HCO_3^- alkalinity) to resist drastic changes in pH.

$$CaCO_3 + CO_2(g) + H_2O \rightarrow Ca^{2+} + 2HCO_3^{-}$$
⁽²⁾

$$2NaAlSi_{3}O_{8} + 11H_{2}O + 2CO_{2}(g) \rightarrow Al_{2}Si_{2}O_{5}(OH)_{4} + 2Na^{+} + 2HCO_{3}^{-} + 4H_{4}SiO_{4}$$
(3)

$$Al_2Si_2O_5(OH)_4 + 5H_2O + 6CO_2(g) \rightarrow 2Al^{3+} + 6HCO_3^- + 2H_4SiO_4$$
 (4)

Poorly buffered systems (e.g., sandy soils in aquifers) are devoid of sufficient quantities of alkalinityproducing minerals and therefore lack the ability to resist changes in pH. In such systems, the decrease in pH due to the dissolution of CO_2 into solution is generally more apparent and the risk for pH-induced perturbation to environmental quality is more significant and prolonged compared to well-buffered systems (McGrail et al. 2006; Wang and Jaffe 2004; Wilkin and DiGiulio 2010).

The synthesis of the current literature suggest the potential for both beneficial and deleterious effects resulting from the subsurface sediments exposure to the CO_2 gas leaking from the deep reservoirs. These effects are detailed in the following two sections.

3.0 Beneficial CO₂-Induced Interactions in the Near Surface Environments

The migration of CO_2 from deep geologic storage into near surface environments could be considered beneficial if it resulted in enhanced carbon sequestration (or re-sequestration) and/or reduced mobility and bioavailability of contaminants.

3.1 CO₂ Re-Sequestration

Estimates of up to 96% attenuation of leaked CO_2 over a 1000-year period have been reported in the vadose zone (Oldenburg and Unger 2003). Processes identified for such enhanced CO_2 retention/ re-sequestration in the subsurface include the accumulation of the CO_2 gas at the water table (due to CO_2 being denser than soil air), permeability trapping (due to anisotropy favoring the horizontal flow of CO_2) and solubility trapping (due to dissolution of CO_2 into infiltrating or residual soil water).

The mineralogical trapping of CO_2 in carbonate minerals provides another potential mechanism for CO_2 re-sequestration in near surface environments. From an environmental and sequestration perspective, this is the most desirable outcome for CO_2 intrusion into near surface environments because of the immobility of carbonate minerals compared to other CO_2 trapping mechanisms. Several studies have demonstrated mineralogical trapping of CO_2 under conditions associated with deep geologic CO_2 storage, but such assessments have not been considered in near surface environments due to thermodynamic and kinetic limitations (Loring et al. 2011; McGrail et al. 2009; Bearat et al. 2006; Oldenburg and Unger 2003).

Thermodynamic limitations to carbonate precipitation are because many soil solutions and potable groundwater are undersaturated (saturation index, SI<0) with respect to carbonates, while kinetic limitations are due to the slow nucleation rates of carbonates. However, given the potential for 1) CO₂ to increase the thermodynamic favorability of carbonate precipitation via enhanced CO₂-induced weathering of soil and aquifer minerals; and 2) the current literature on microbially mediated nucleation of carbonates, the authors of this report believe the consideration of mineral trapping of CO₂ in near surface environments (as a consequence of a CO₂ leak) is warranted (Kenward et al. 2009; De Choudens-Sánchez and González 2009; Dean et al. 2007; Power et al. 2011; Vasconcelos and McKenzie 1997; Roberts et al. 2004; Douglas and Beveridge 1998; Dong 2010; Ferris et al. 2004; Tobler et al. 2011; Mitchell and Ferris 2005).

A generalized reaction for the CO_2 -induced weathering of a plagioclase mineral to carbonate is shown in Equation (5) (simplified from McGrail et al. 2006).

$$2Na_{0.5}(M)_{0.5}AlSi_{3}O_{8} + 10H_{2}O + CO_{2}(g) \rightarrow (M)CO_{3} + Al_{2}Si_{2}O_{5}(OH)_{4} + Na^{+} + 4H_{4}SiO_{4}$$
(5)

where M could be Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Fe^{2+} or a combination of these metals. In this reaction, the dissolution of CO_2 in water would cause a decrease in solution pH, leading to enhanced dissolution of the plagioclase, and increase chemical activity of Ca, Mg, or Fe and HCO_3^- . The increasing activity of Ca, Mg or Fe and HCO_3^- could lead to super-saturation (SI>>0) and precipitation of carbonate minerals (e.g. calcite $[CaCO_3]$, magnesite $[MgCO_3]$, siderite $[FeCO_3]$ or their metastable intermediates).

3.2 Contaminant Immobilization

Some modeling and direct experimental evidence indicates the introduction of CO_2 into the nearsurface environment may reduce the mobility of some contaminants (Altevogt and Jaffe 2005; Lu et al. 2010; Smyth et al. 2009). In simulating the effect of intruding CO_2 on soil biogeochemistry, Altevogt and Jaffe (2005) concluded the displacement of O_2 by CO_2 in soil gas and the decrease in soil solution pH (due to CO_2 dissolution) would favor the reduction of soil NO_3^- to NH_4^+ . Because of the greater tendency for NH_4^+ (compared to NO_3^-) to be adsorbed to negatively charged soil minerals and organic matter, such CO_2^- -induced changes in nitrogen speciation would be useful in reducing nitrate contamination of groundwater in agricultural areas.

Based on laboratory experiments, Lu et al. (2010) and Smyth et al. (2009) concluded that introduction of CO_2 into a fresh water aquifer could reduce the aqueous concentration of some contaminants (including As, Cr, U and V). The behavior of these contaminants was attributed to CO_2 -induced changes in dissolution and adsorption characteristics of organic matter, clays, and other aquifer minerals.

Recent studies show that, in addition to carbonates, the enhanced weathering effect of CO_2 on primary soil and aquifer minerals could also yield secondary clay minerals or metal (hydr)oxides (Hu et al. 2011; Shao et al. 2010b, 2011; Lu et al. 2010). The formation of these new mineral phases could serve to reduce the mobility of contaminants in near-surface environments via incorporation into the mineral structure and/or sorption to the mineral surface. For example, the ability of secondary minerals (e.g., allophane (Lu et al. 2011), goethite (Hu et al. 2011), and highly weathered soils with pH-dependent, positively charged reactive surface groups to adsorb oxyanion contaminants (e.g., nitrate, arsenate, arsenite, chromate, selenate) under acidic conditions is well known (Opiso et al. 2009; Arai et al. 2005; Giménez et al. 2007; Rovira et al. 2008). In addition, clays (e.g., illite and smectites [Lu et al. 2011] with permanent negatively charged surfaces are also known to adsorb cationic contaminants (Bradbury and Baeyens 1999; Poinssot et al. 1999). In basaltic systems, the weathering effect of the intruding CO_2 on basalts to form the ferrogenous smectite-like minerals, such as nontronite, could also serve to enhance the immobilization of redox-sensitive contaminants (Vingiani et al. 2004; Mason et al. 1997; Benson and Teague 1982; Jaisi et al. 2009).

4.0 Deleterious CO₂ Interactions in Near Surface Environments

CO₂-induced reactions leading to the degradation of water quality is probably the greatest concern associated with migration of CO₂ from deep geologic storage to near surface environments. Such degradation may involve the increase mobilization of contaminants or changes in other water quality parameters such as alkalinity, salinity or total dissolved solids (TDS). Research in this area is relatively new and at the time of this review, applicable work included several modeling studies (Vong et al. 2011; Wang and Jaffe 2004; Zheng et al. 2009; Apps et al. 2011; Apps et al. 2010; Jacquemet et al. 2011; Zheng et al. In Press), batch experiments (Little and Jackson 2010; Lu et al. 2010; Wei et al. 2011; Smyth et al. 2009) and short-term field studies (Kharaka et al. 2006, 2010; Assayag et al. 2009; Mito et al. 2008).

4.1 Mobilization of Contaminants

The potential for CO_2 -induced mobilization of contaminants have been reported in experimental and modeling studies, and have been attributed largely to the activity of H⁺ and HCO₃⁻.

Wang and Jaffe (2004) modeled potential changes in aqueous Pb concentration as a result of intrusion of CO_2 into hypothetical aquifers comprising of PbS/CaCO₃or PbS/quartz. For an 8-year simulation, Wang and Jaffe (2004) predicted that CO_2 -induced decrease in pH would result in increased dissolution of the PbS and subsequent increases of aqueous concentrations of Pb. Vong et al. (2011) modeled the potential for the intrusion of CO_2 into a glauconitic-sandstone aquifer system to induce excessive release of heavy metals into solution. Vong et al. (2011) also predicted that a decrease in aqueous pH associated CO_2 intrusion into the aquifer would adversely affect potable groundwater quality due to CO_2 -enhanced dissolution of galena and other trace-metal bearing minerals resulting in increased aqueous concentrations of Pb, Cd, Cu, Fe, Mn and Zn. Similar predictions were made by Zheng et al. (2009) who also considered the significance of sorption on the mobility of Pb and As in a typical eastern U.S. coastal plain aquifer impacted by the intrusion of CO_2 gas.

Laboratory and field studies have also highlighted the potential for CO₂-induced changes in near-surface environments to negatively affect water quality. Wei et al. (2011) found that, although still tolerable by plants, exchangeable concentrations of a wide range of metals (including Cu, Pb, Cr, V and U) in an agricultural soil increased by up to 500% during a 3-day incubation period with CO₂ (25°C and 25 bars). Little and Jackson (2010) tracked metal releases from various aquifer sediments (exposed to CO₂) and reported that CO₂ intrusions resulted in increased aqueous concentrations of several metals (e.g., Al, V, Cr, Mn, Zn and Co) by up to 3 orders of magnitude. Kharaka et al. (2010) during a 30-day field study, found the injection of CO₂ into a shallow freshwater aquifer (2 to 2.3 m) resulted in increased aqueous concentrations of Fe, Mn, As, Cu, Zn, Cd, Pb, Al, and Se. In all cases, the increase in aqueous concentration of the contaminants was attributed to enhanced dissolution and/or desorption from the surfaces of soil and aquifer minerals.

Wilkin and Digiulio (2010) cautioned that although increased HCO_3^- concentrations—associated with enhanced weathering effects of dissolved CO_2 on soil and aquifer minerals—may be favorable for carbonate precipitation, such concentrations may also enhance the desorption of some contaminants from the surfaces of minerals. The ability of HCO_3^- to desorb negatively charged species of arsenic and naturally occurring uranium from metal oxides, soils, and aquifer sediments is well recognized (Mason et al. 1997; Anawar et al. 2003; Saalfield et al. 2010). Mason et al. (1997) found that in the presence of HCO_3^- , 75–90% uranium could be desorbed from contaminated soils. Anawar et al. (2003) found that arsenic desorption from Bangladeshi aquifer sediments was enhanced in the presence of HCO_3^- . Saalfield and Bostick (2010) found that desorption of As from ferrihydrite increased by 1–3 orders of magnitude with increasing HCO_3^- concentrations.

4.2 Other Water Quality Parameters

In addition to decreases in pH and enhanced mobilization of contaminants, the intrusion of CO_2 into near-surface environments can also induce changes in other pertinent water quality parameters such as alkalinity, salinity/TDS and total metal concentrations. Kharaka et al. (2010) found that in addition to a change in pH (from 7.0 to 5.6), the introduction of CO_2 into a shallow groundwater aquifer over a 2-week period caused HCO_3^- alkalinity to increase from 400 to 1300 mg/L, salinity (measured as electrical conductivity) to increase from 600-1800 μ S cm⁻¹, and TDS from 600 to 1500 mg/L. Kharaka et al. (2010) and other studies (Little and Jackson 2010; Lu et al. 2010; Smyth et al. 2009) have also shown the potential for the aqueous concentrations of nontoxic metals such as Ca, Mg, K, Ba and Na to increase significantly in response to CO_2 introduction. Excessive amounts of these metals, although not a serious environmental risk, could cause a compromise in potable water quality due to their contributions to TDS.

5.0 Knowledge Gaps and Research Needs

A notable absence from current literature concerning the impacts of CO_2 intrusion on the biogeochemistry of near-surface environments is a substantive discussion on the potential role of CO_2 -induced shifts in redox condition. Carroll et al. (2009), in recognizing the potential significance of redox conditions, noted that robust predictions of the geochemical impact of a CO_2 leak will require the coupling of CO_2 plume modeling with laboratory experiments under a range of redox conditions. However, in contrast to pH, Eh is far less prevalent as a quantitative variable in studies concerning the geochemical effects of CO_2 intrusion into the vadose zone or potable aquifers. Instead, most studies (e.g., Zheng et al. (2009) and Vong et al. (2011) attribute CO_2 -induced geochemical chemical changes in the subsurface solely to changes in solution pH- even in the presence of redox-sensitive minerals/elements.

As a result of CO_2 intrusion, the redox condition of the subsurface will change due to CO_2 -induced reactions and/or O_2 depletion/replacement with the CO_2 gas (Altevogt and Jaffe 2005; Ardelan and Steinnes 2010; Huesemann et al. 2002) or changes in biological activity (Kirk 2011). As with pH, changes in redox condition (measured as redox potential, Eh) will influence or control the extent and rate

of chemical, biological, and hydrological processes/reactions (because of its influence on the speciation of redox-sensitive elements and the dissolution/precipitation characteristics of redox-sensitive minerals). Therefore, detailed assessments of how CO_2 influences redox conditions is also crucial to determining biogeochemical impacts of CO_2 migration from deep storage into potable aquifers and the vadose zone.

In reality, pH and Eh in the subsurface will be interrelated. This interelation is reflected in the fact that most redox reactions involve protons (oxidation releases H^+ and reduction consumes H^+) and will simultaneously influence solution pH. A change in pH will also impact Eh due to pH effects on dissolution, and subsequently the distribution of reduced versus oxidized species in solution. The impact of CO₂ on speciation of elements and the dissolution and precipitation characteristics of minerals in the subsurface will therefore be a combined effect of Eh and pH. The relationship between Eh and pH and their combined influence on system geochemistry is commonly represented on pH-Eh stability diagrams based on the Nernst Equation:

$$Eh = E^0 - \frac{0.059}{n} \log \frac{a_{red}}{a_{oxid} a_{H^+}^m}$$
(6)

Eh = Redox potential of the reaction $E^0 = \text{Standard state redox potential}$ n = Number of electrons involved in the reaction m = Number of proton involved in the reaction a_{red}, a_{oxid} and $a_{H^+} = \text{Chemical activity of the reduced species, oxidized species and protons, respectively (McBride 1994).}$

In addition to consideration of redox conditions, the authors of this report believe that development of consistent experimental and assessment protocols, as well as the identification and systematic evaluation of the influence of all pertinent system properties, are crucial to advancing current knowledge on how the migration of CO_2 gas from deep storage would impact the biogeochemistry of near-surface environments. The identification and systematic evaluation of pertinent system properties is critical in ensuring that all major reaction drivers are accounted for, and appropriately weighted in both our experimental and modeling assessments. A consistent set of experimental and assessment protocols is therefore needed to address current discrepancies, allow effective interstudy comparison, provide context for experimental results, and facilitate sound science-based decisions and policy making.

The following sections discuss four factors that require immediate attention from the scientific community. These are as follows:

- 1. The influence of the gas intrusion rate
- 2. Composition of the intruding gas stream
- 3. Organic matter (type and amount) and microbial activity

1

4. Sediment mineralogy.

where

The first two factors pertain to the nature of the migrating gas stream while the latter two pertain to impacted systems (e.g., shallow groundwater aquifer, capillary fringe, or the vadose zone). A possible framework within which the geochemical consequences of CO_2 could be effectively assessed and experimental protocols developed is also proposed.

Throughout the discussions, results from some of the authors' geochemical modeling efforts are used to highlight why closing current knowledge gaps is pivotal. Details on the model setup (including input parameters and data used) are presented in Appendix A. Note that geochemical modeling results are largely based on hypothetical scenarios and therefore are intended to be illustrative. Laboratory and field scale experimental work will be needed to confirm the results derived from modeling.

5.1 Importance of CO₂ Intrusion Rates

One criticism of current experimental studies is that the rate of CO₂ intrusion used is disproportionately high, is unlikely to occur at geologic sequestration sites, and would overwhelm any chemical buffering provided by minerals, resulting in unrealistic mineral dissolution and release of undesirable trace metals and elements (Gilfillan and Haszeldine 2011). Although such a criticism is refutable on the basis the solubility of CO₂ in water is limited and excess CO₂ in experiments would have been vented (Little and Jackson 2010), the reality is that no experimental data currently exists on how the rate of CO₂ intrusion would likely influence geochemical changes in a potable aquifer. In the authors' search of the literature, only the modeling studies by Zheng et al. (2009) and Vong et al. (2011) considered the likely impact of intrusion rate on aquifer geochemistry. In both studies, increasing CO₂ intrusion rates led to lower pH that in turn led to enhanced dissolution of sulfide minerals—such as galena (PbS), sphalerite (ZnS), and arsenopyrite (FeAsS) —and subsequently compromised groundwater quality due to increased aqueous concentrations of trace metals (e.g., Pb, Zn and As).

While the concept that lowering pH could enhance the dissolution of aquifer minerals and increase aqueous concentrations of contaminants in groundwater is reasonable, in the case of sulfides or other redox-sensitive minerals, redox conditions would be expected to have the greatest effect on their precipitation and dissolution behavior (Abdelouas et al. 1999; Lee and Hering 2005; Rashid et al. 2002; Sasaki et al. 2010; Nickson et al. 2000; Noubactep et al. 2008; Smedley and Kinniburgh 2002; Edwards et al. 2000). Thus, considering the influence of CO_2 intrusion rate on both pH and Eh and their coupled effects on the beneficial and deleterious reactions in the subsurface would provide a more complete scenario of what to expect within a particular environment.

To account for the wide array of possible environments, these studies could be conducted under different conditions including open versus closed systems, oxic versus suboxic/anoxic systems and saturated versus unsaturated conditions. The authors conducted 100-year simulation runs using hypothetical CO_2 intrusion rates of 0.01, 0.1, 1, and 10 g day⁻¹ into a model system with the fugacity of oxygen fixed at initial system conditions (closed system), or allowed to vary (open system with respect to oxygen). Predicted changes in pH and Eh (superimposed onto pH-Eh diagrams for CO_2/HCO_3^- , Fe, As, and Pb) are presented in Figure 5.1.

For CO_2 re-sequestration, modeling results indicate mineral trapping is likely to become less favorable as CO_2 intrusion rate increase due to lower equilibrium pH (associated with higher CO_2 rates) favoring dissolution, rather than precipitation of carbonates (Figure 5.1a). Figures 5.1b-d indicate that although CO_2 rates may have no apparent effects on Fe, Pb, and As speciation in closed anaerobic systems, in an open (with respect to oxygen) system increasing CO_2 rates could favor either mineral dissolution, or formation of new mineral phases (in the case of Fe)-, depending on the accompanying shift in system redox condition.



Figure 5.1. Predicted changes in pH and Eh at different CO₂ intrusion rates, and implications for aqueous speciation of (a) CO₂, (b) Fe, (c) Pb, and (d) As. Simulation was for 100 years at CO₂ intrusion rates of 0.01 (blue), 0.1 (black), 1 (yellow) and 10 (red) g d⁻¹ into a model aquifer assuming a closed (squares) or open (circles) system with respect to oxygen. The star is indicative of the starting point. Points on the lines represent status after 1 year and 100 years. In cases where points are undifferentiable, the 1-year results coincide with that for 100 years. Details on the model aquifer system are provided in Appendix A.

 CO_2 -induced changes in system pH and Eh favoring the formation of Fe-oxides such as hematite could be beneficial in two ways: 1) sorption of contaminants onto their surfaces (Giménez et al. 2007; Goldberg and Johnston 2001; Bowell 1994), or 2) incorporation of contaminants into their structure (Kaur et al. 2009; Davranche and Bollinger 2000; Paige et al. 1997). However, CO_2 -induced changes in system pH and Eh favoring the dissolution of contaminant-containing minerals could be deleterious especially in the absence of a suitable sorbent. Based on Figure 5.1c, the release of Pb²⁺ from galena would be most favored in an open system and increasing higher CO_2 intrusion rates. An open system and higher CO_2 rates would also favor the release of As(V) and As(III) from As-bearing minerals but these conditions also favor the precipitation of Fe-oxides, which are excellent sorbents for As(V) and less so for As(III) under acidic conditions. Understanding the potentially delicate balance between the CO_2 intrusion rate, system properties, pH, Eh, precipitation and dissolution, and adsorption and desorption is therefore vital to assessing the geochemical impact of CO_2 on the environment.

5.2 Importance of Co-Injected/Co-Transported Gas

All geologic sequestration programs will need to be permitted and therefore composition of the injected CO_2 stream will depend on responsible regulatory agencies. The composition of injection streams into deep storage aquifers will likely vary from site to site and is likely to be more reflective of flue gas (that has been denitrogenated and deoxygenated to improve compressibility), rather than the food-grade CO_2 usually used in current studies.

Results from the authors' geochemical modeling efforts that compared a mixed gas (99.4% CO_2 , 0.1% CO, 0.1% NO_x , 0.3% SO_x and 0.1% CH_4) to a CO_2 -only stream indicate that co-injected or co-transported gases could potentially influence aqueous speciation of redox-sensitive elements such as Fe and As (Figure 5.2). Such effects further indicate that gas composition could have significant implications for the mobility of As and other redox-sensitive contaminants (e.g., V, U, Se and Cr) in the subsurface, since their mobility is strongly influenced by speciation (Abdelouas et al. 1999; Lee and Hering 2005; Rashid et al. 2002; Sasaki et al. 2010; Nickson et al. 2000; Noubactep et al. 2008; Smedley and Kinniburgh 2002). In cases where gas composition favors a shift from more to less mobile species (e.g., As(III) or Cr(VI) to As(V) and Cr(III), respectively), CO_2 intrusion could be considered beneficial, while in cases where the alternative shift is favored, then CO_2 intrusion would be deleterious.



Figure 5.2. Predicted changes in pH and Eh with composition of intruding gas, and implications for aqueous speciation of (a) Fe and (b) As. Simulation was for 100 years at gas intrusion 10 g d-1 using pure CO₂ (red) and a mixed gas stream (blue; 99.4% CO₂, 0.1% CO, 0.1% NO_x, 0.3% SO_x and 0.1% CH4) into a model aquifer assuming an open system with respect to oxygen. The star is indicative of the starting point. Points on the lines represent status after 1 and 100 years. In cases where points are undifferentiable, the 1-year results coincide with that for 100 years. Details on the model aquifer system are provided in Appendix A.

The dissolution of co-transported NO_x or SO_x into potable groundwater or soil pore water could also be considered deleterious given the health effects associated with nitrites and nitrates (Manassaram et al. 2006; Raczuk 2010; Sandor et al. 2001; Fowler et al. 2005) or negative implications associated with the acidifying effects of NO_x and SO_x on rainwater (Fowler et al. 2005; Goyer et al. 1985; Matson et al. 1999). Similar acidifying effects of NO_x and SO_x gases are expected if these gases leak into potable aquifers or the vadose zone. A recent study by Jacquemet et al. (2011) indicates that even at low concentrations, SO₂ and NO may lower pH by an additional 1 unit compared to CO₂ alone. Jacquemet et al. (2011) predicted an increased release of metals as a consequence of the additional decline in pH. However, such pH declines may also enhance other undesirable reactions. For example, the formation of carcinogenic *nitroso* compounds from NO₂ and organic matter is known to be enhanced under acidic conditions (Mitch et al. 2003).

From a beneficial perspective, dissolved SO_x and NO_x could also potentially serve as an important source of oxidant in microbially mediated mineralization (of CO_2 to carbonate minerals) coupled to sulfate or nitrite/nitrate reduction (Aloisi et al. 2002; Blair and Aller 1995; Chen et al. 2007; Michaelis et al. 2002; Peckmann et al. 2001). Understanding the coupled geochemical influence of contaminant gases found in flue gas (e.g., H₂S, NO_x, and SO_x) and CO₂ is therefore pivotal to assessing the potential geochemical impact of CO₂ leakage on potable aquifers and the vadose zone at sequestration sites. Research focused on understanding the beneficial and deleterious outcomes of contaminant gases in the CO₂ injection stream needs to be established.

5.3 Importance of Native Aquifer Gases

In addition to having formation waters in equilibrium with CH_4 , deep aquifer formations suitable for CO_2 storage are likely to have gaseous environments dominated by gases other than CO_2 . Kharaka et al. (2006) found that gas samples collected from a deep abandoned oil well in the Frio formation, Texas, contained $95 \pm 3\%$ CH₄ (compared to 0.3% CO₂), with the bulk of the remaining gas comprised of N₂, C-2, and higher hydrocarbon gases. High concentrations of CH₄ and H₂ have also been observed in deep basaltic aquifers (Stevens and McKinley 1995). Any leakage of injected gas from the storage aquifer will likely occur in conjunction with native aquifer gases.

The authors simulated the potential influence of CH_4 as a co-intruding aquifer gas by increasing its concentration, in the mixed gas stream described above, from 0.1 to 1% at the expense of CO_2 . Increasing the CH_4 in the gas stream was predicted to have the greatest effect on the redox condition of the system by favoring more reduced species as CH_4 content in the intruding gas stream increases (Figure 5.3). As noted prior, with respect to co-injected gases, such changes in redox condition could be considered beneficial or deleterious depending on the redox-sensitive species present in the system.

The transformation of native aquifer gases in the subsurface could also be crucial to assessing their overall influence on the environment. Klusman (2003, 2006) found that most of the CO_2 in oxic soils above exploited oil fields was attributable to the methanotrophic oxidation of methane and other hydrocarbons that migrated upwards from the reservoir. The formation of CH_4 from H_2 and CO_2 via methanogenesis under anaerobic conditions and in the presence of methanogens is also possible (Stevens and McKinley 1995). Methanotrophic oxidation of native hydrocarbons would further increase CO_2 concentrations in the aquifer and likely enhance its impact on geochemical processes. However, methanogenesis could potentially reduce the direct effects of CO_2 by converting injected CO_2 to CH_4 .

There is also the risk of dealing with a new set of challenges associated with CH_4 (stronger reducing agent and lower solubility than CO_2). Accounting for the fate and transport of native aquifer gases (e.g., H_2 , CH_4 , and other volatile organic compounds) is therefore critical to assessing geochemical changes associated with leakage of CO_2 from deep storage aquifers.



Figure 5.3. Predicted changes in pH and Eh with CH₄ content of intruding gas, and implications for aqueous speciation of (a) Fe and (b) As. Simulation was for 100 years at gas intrusion 10 g d⁻¹ using pure CO₂ (red) and one mixed gas stream with 0.1% CH₄ (blue; 99.4% CO₂, 0.1% CO, 0.1% NO_x, 0.3% SO_x and 0.1% CH₄) and one with 1% CH₄ (black; 98.5% CO₂, 0.1% CO, 0.1% NO_x, 0.3% SO_x and 1% CH₄) into a model aquifer assuming an open system with respect to oxygen. The star is indicative of the starting point. Points on the lines represent status after 1 year and 100 years. In cases where points are undifferentiable, the 1-year results coincide with that for 100 years. Details on the model aquifer system are provided in Appendix A.

5.4 Importance of Organic Matter and Microorganisms

Studies of the behavior of $scCO_2$ in deep saline formations, unmineable coal seams, and depleted oil and gas reservoirs highlight the need for significant consideration to be given to the role of organic contaminants in the event of CO_2 leakage into a potable aquifer. For example, Kharaka et al. (2006) found that breakthrough of injected CO_2 in deep formations was accompanied by the release of a "slug" of organic matter, with dissolved organic carbon concentrations exceeding 100 times prebreakthrough levels. Analysis for a limited number of dissolved organic species revealed significant concentrations of C1-C5 organic anions, plus toluene concentrations in excess of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's drinking water standard of 1 ppm. In another study, Zheng et al. (2012) used computer simulations to illustrate how benzene could be mobilized from a deep storage formation to an overlying aquifer, with benzene building up in the leading edge of a $scCO_2$ plume because of preferential partitioning in $scCO_2$ relative to water. Therefore, given the solvent properties of $scCO_2$, the influx of organic contaminants would be a plausible outcome of the intrusion of CO_2 -rich water into a potable aquifer. For water-soluble organic compounds, in addition to exceeding water standards for organic contaminants, the consequence of an influx of previously stored CO_2 into a potable aquifer may be two-fold. In the absence of suitable redox conditions or micro-organisms, the influx of organic contaminants could also serve to enhance metal mobility through the formation of soluble organo-metal complexes, enhanced dissolution reactions, and the inhibition of precipitation or adsorption reactions. However, under suitable redox conditions and in the presence of a suitable microbial community, the influx of organic contaminants may actually enhance the immobilization of some redox-sensitive contaminants and metalloids via assimilatory or dissimilatory microbial-mediated redox reactions (Lloyd 2003, Lovley 1993).

There is also some evidence to indicate that microorganisms could enhance CO_2 re-sequestration in near-surface environments via direct assimilation (Pedersen and Ekendahl 1992) or biogenic carbonate formation (Vasconcelos and McKenzie 1997; Roberts et al. 2004; Douglas and Beveridge 1998; Dong 2010). Many microorganisms likely to be encountered in near-surface environments above geologic sequestration sites (e.g., sulfate-reducers, nitrate-reducers, iron-reducers, urea-degraders, and methanogens) are capable of biogenic carbonate formation (Roberts et al. 2004; Douglas and Beveridge 1998; Dong 2010; Ferris et al. 2004; Tobler et al. 2011; Mitchell and Ferris 2005; Mitchell et al. 2010). The formation of carbonate minerals by urea-degraders has been extensively studied (Ferris et al. 2004; Tobler et al. 2011; Mitchell and Ferris 2005; Mitchell et al. 2010). A recent study (Mitchell et al. 2010) showed that under conditions consistent with CO_2 storage conditions, urea-degraders incorporated up to 37% of total carbon into carbonate minerals. Because the high pressure conditions of deep storage formations could significantly inhibit cellular activity, a higher incorporation of CO_2 into carbonates might be expected in near-surface environments (Wu et al. 2010).

Roberts et al. (2004) found that iron-bearing dolomite formed after 3 months of suspending sterile Columbia River basalt fragments into a fresh water aquifer (to a depth of 7 m) was associated with the colonization of the basalt by a consortium of methanogens and fermenters. Dolomite formation was indicated to occur via local microbially enhanced weathering of the basalt coupled with methanogenesis (with dissolved CO_2 as a source of carbon) and crystal nucleation on the cell walls of the microorganism as seen in Equation (7).

$$3HCO_3^- + 4H_2 + Ca^{2+} + 0.9Mg^{2+} + 0.1Fe^{2+}$$

 $\rightarrow Ca_{1,0}Mg_{0,0}Fe_{0,1}(CO_3)_2 + CH_4 + 3H_2O + H^+$
(7)

There is also ample evidence in the literature that indicates CH_4 produced in Equation (3) could be re-oxidized via anaerobic methane oxidation (AMO) by reducing bacteria (including iron-, nitrate- and sulfate reducers), resulting in further biogenic carbonate formation as seen in Equation (8) (Aloisi et al. 2002; Blair and Aller 1995; Chen et al. 2007; Michaelis et al. 2002; Peckmann et al. 2001):

$$CH_4 + SO_4^{2-} + M^{2+} \rightarrow MCO_3 + HS^- + H_2O + H^+$$
 (8)

where M^{2+} could be any carbonate forming divalent metal (e.g., Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , or Fe^{2+}). If M^{2+} was Cd^{2+} or Pb^{2+} , biogenic carbonate formation could also potentially serve to enhance natural attenuation of toxic metals through the formation of CdCO₃ and PbCO₃.

Theoretically, Equation (7) indicates mineral trapping alone could account for 66% of dissolved CO₂. In cases where Equation (8) is thermodynamically and kinetically favorable, and if the system is not limited by oxidants (e.g., $SO_4^{2^-}$, NO_3^- , or Fe^{3^+}) or dissolved metal (e.g., Ca^{2^+} , Mg^{2^+} , or Fe^{2^+}) concentrations, the number would be closer to 100%. It is therefore plausible that at geologic sequestration sites where biogenic carbonate formation is favorable, mineral trappings could be very important in determining the fate of leaked CO₂ in near-surface environments. At potential geologic sequestration sites (e.g., CO_2 -EOR operations, exploited oil reservoirs or basaltic formations) where anaerobic subsurface microbial ecosystems have been shown to be comprised of significant quantities of methanogenesis and reducing bacteria (Stevens and McKinley 1995; Lin et al. 2011; Chapelle et al. 2002), methanogenesis and AMO coupled to biogenic carbonate formation are processes that should be considered. Gypsum-rich formations or co-injected acid gases (e.g., SO_x or NO_x) could serve as a source of oxidant.

Acidity (due to CO_2 dissolution in water) may inhibit microbially mediated processes through heavy metal-induced toxicity or direct inhibition of microbial enzymatic activity (vanBeelen and FleurenKemila 1997; Wang et al. 2006). However, acidity may thermodynamically favor microbial reductive dissolution of Fe(III) hydroxides (Kirk 2011), which are ubiquitous in the subsurface and are good sorbents of trace metals. Therefore, whether CO_2 -induced inhibition of microbial activity could be considered beneficial or deleterious will depend on the microbial process impacted. For example, CO_2 -induced inhibition of microbially mediated conversion of NH_4^+ to NO_3^- (nitrification) in the vadose zone could minimize the risk for nitrate contamination of groundwater (since unlike NO_3^- , NH_4^+ adsorbs to soil and aquifer minerals). Thus, CO_2 leakage from the storage aquifer could be considered beneficial due to contaminant immobilization.

From a contaminant mobilization perspective, CO_2 -induced inhibition of methane-oxidation that results in the accumulation of CH_4 in the vadose zone or capillary fringe could create anoxic zones and favor reductive mobilization of some contaminants that could then leach into the groundwater. Considering such multi-fold effects should be a primary focus of studies examining CO_2 -intrusion into potable aquifers and the vadose zone. Understanding and assessing the impact of co-released CO_2 and organic contaminants on subsurface microbial populations and microbial-mediated processes is also important.

5.5 Importance of Sediment Mineralogy

Geology and subsequently mineralogy at geologic sequestration sites will differ. While capturing the complete variability across sites will be impossible, some understanding of the minerals present and their chemical and physical behavior is crucial to assessing potential outcomes of CO_2 migration into potable aquifers or the vadose zone.

In many studies reviewed, the significance of mineralogy to outcomes of CO_2 -intrusion is evident. In studies by Lu et al. (2010) and Smyth et al. (2009), the dissolution of carbonate minerals and adsorption and desorption to hydrous oxides, organic matter, and clay minerals were highlighted as controlling the total aqueous concentration of various metals. Kharaka et al. (2010) also attributed observed increases in aqueous metal concentrations at the ZERT field site in Bozeman, Montana, to CO_2 -induced dissolution of carbonates, iron oxides and/or desorption-proton exchange reactions possibly from clay minerals. Zheng et al. (In Press) further showed that ion exchange reactions driven by Ca^{2+} release from calcite dissolution

could explain the observed increase of dissolved trace metal concentrations at this site. Little and Jackson (2010) found that CO_2 intrusion had no effect on aqueous Cd concentration in calcite-rich sediments but induced a 1000% increase in Cd for the calcite-deficient sediments. The aqueous concentrations of Al, V, and Cr were also found to increase in chalcopyrite-containing sediments but decreased in other sediments.

The lack of effect on Cd concentrations in the calcite-rich sediments of Little and Jackson (2010) is attributable to CO₂-induced dissolution of calcite that would serve to buffer the pH and thereby prevent dissolution of Cd-bearing minerals. However, oxidative dissolution of chalcopyrite would decrease solution pH-, resulting in acid-enhanced dissolution of Al, V, or Cr-bearing minerals and the increase in aqueous concentrations of Al, V, and Cr.

Mineralogy knowledge could also be crucial in designing and conducting laboratory experiments with material from field sites. For example, many groundwater contaminants are redox-sensitive, or contained in redox-sensitive minerals (Birkholzer et al. 2012; Edmunds et al. 1989). It is the dissolution and precipitation of these minerals that will drive the total aqueous concentrations of redox-sensitive contaminants (Abdelouas et al. 1999; Lee and Hering 2005; Rashid et al. 2002; Sasaki et al. 2010; Nickson et al. 2000; Noubactep et al. 2008; Smedley and Kinniburgh 2002). Therefore, laboratory studies involving aquifer sediments and seeking to assess how CO₂ intrusion would impact the geochemistry of the aquifer should be conducted under redox and solution conditions relevant to that system.

The lack of matching laboratory (i.e., solution and redox) conditions as closely as possible to those observed in the field is one area where current laboratory studies could be improved. For example, Little and Jackson (2010) noted all of their experiments were conducted in deionized water under oxidized conditions. However, the presence of sulfide minerals in some of their sediments was more representative of sediments originating from a reduced environment. Thus, despite Little and Jackson (2010) pointing to pH as the primary factor responsible for the discrepancies between their study and that of Lu et al. (2010), it is more plausible that a change in redox conditions was the factor controlling metal release (especially because pH values between the two systems were comparable). Rather than the oxic conditions of Little and Jackson (2010), conditions existing in Lu et al. (2010) experiments were likely anoxic (purged with argon prior to CO_2 introduction). This difference in redox could potentially explain why, in contrast to Little and Jackson (2010), Lu et al. (2010) observed no significant changes in the aqueous concentrations of redox-sensitive metals (e.g., Fe, Cu, and U) or metals (e.g., Ni) that were likely contained in redox-sensitive minerals.

5.6 Need for Experimental and Assessment Protocols

Alleviating discrepancies between studies and the closing of current knowledge gaps are pivotal to the effective prediction of how the migration of CO_2 from storage reservoirs would impact the biogeochemistry of near-surface environments. The likelihood of experimental discrepancies can be minimized if experiments are conducted under rigorous experimental and assessment protocols, developed from a comprehensive process-based understanding of geochemical reactions in CO_2 -rich environments. Such protocols will also provide a framework within which to explain discrepancies, compare findings from different studies, and facilitate the systematic closing of current knowledge gaps.

There is also a wealth of information from analog or comparable systems that need to be reconciled to highlight their value as geochemical signatures of what can be expected if CO_2 should migrate from storage into near-surface environments. For example, studies at analog sites show no or only localized compromise in water quality caused by the natural intrusion of CO_2 (Aiuppa et al. 2005; Keating et al. 2010, 2011; Flaathen et al. 2009). It has also been emphasized that such natural CO_2 analogs highlight the low risk for CO_2 -induced contamination associated with geological sequestration—especially considering that water from these systems are often potable and consumed with no adverse health effects (Gilfillan and Haszeldine 2011). However, before such conclusions can be made, it is important to consider pertinent factors, such as the duration of time that sediments have been exposed to CO_2 (Lu et al. 2010). In contrast to sediments in aquifers subject to recent influx of CO_2 (as in gas leakage from geological storage), sediments at natural analog sites would have a comparatively long time to equilibrate with CO_2 -rich water. Therefore, both systems would be expected to exhibit very different solution and mineral chemistry.

However, expected differences in solution and mineral chemistry at geological sequestration versus natural analog sites does not negate the geochemical value of natural analogs in understanding the likely impact of CO_2 migration from geological storage. In fact, it can be incurred that the geochemistry of natural analogs is indicative of what long-term consequences can be expected from CO_2 leakage into a potable aquifer. Hence, in addition to providing valuable information on potential flow paths and estimating leakage size, analog studies could provide significant insights into reaction kinetics, equilibration time, and equilibrium mineral phases. Such information would also be important in terms of policy and strategic decisions on remediation approaches in the event of significant CO_2 -induced compromise in potable water quality.

Similar reconciliation as described for natural analog studies is also needed to evaluate the geochemical value of other systems (e.g., landfills and acid-mine sites) that exhibit some characteristics (shifts in pH and Eh) that could be expected in near-surface environments impacted by CO_2 from geological sequestration. Although such reconciliation is beyond the scope of this review, the authors believe that, as with minimizing experimental discrepancies and the systematic closing of current knowledge gaps, a rigorous set of experimental and assessment protocols would be useful in assessing their value in understanding of the potential geochemical implication of CO_2 migration into near-surface environments.

A possible framework within which to assess the geochemical impact of CO_2 on near-surface environments and to develop experimental and assessment protocols is presented in Figure 5.4. In this framework, shifts in pertinent geochemical processes (such as adsorption and desorption or dissolution precipitation) are driven by changes in solution pH and Eh that are in turn controlled by the properties of impacted systems (e.g., mineralogy and organic matter content) and the characteristics of the intruding gas stream (e.g., composition of gas stream and duration of intrusion).



Figure 5.4. A conceptual framework for assessing geochemical impact of CO₂ on near surface environments

6.0 References

Abdelouas, A.; Lutze, W.; Nuttall, H. E. 1999. "Oxidative dissolution of uraninite precipitated on Navajo sandstone." *J. Contam. Hydrol.* 36:353-375.

Aiuppa, A.; Federico, C.; Allard, P.; Gurrieri, S.; Valenza, M. 2005. "Trace metal modeling of groundwater–gas–rock interactions in a volcanic aquifer: Mount Vesuvius, Southern Italy." *Chem. Geol.* 216:289-311.

Aloisi, G.; Bouloubassi, I.; Heijs, S. K.; Pancost, R. D.; Pierre, C.; Damste, J. S. S.; Gottschal, J. C.; Forney, L. J.; Rouchy, J. M. 2002. "CH4-consuming microorganisms and the formation of carbonate crusts at cold seeps." *Earth Planet. Sc. Lett.* 203:195-203.

Altevogt, A. S.; Jaffe, P. R. 2005. "Modeling the effects of gas phase CO₂ intrusion on the biogeochemistry of variably saturated soils." *Water Resour. Res.* 41.

Anawar, H. M.; Akai, J.; Komaki, K.; Terao, H.; Yoshioka, T.; Ishizuka, T.; Safiullah, S.; Kato, K. 2003. "Geochemical occurrence of arsenic in groundwater of Bangladesh: sources and mobilization processes." *J. Geochem. Explor.* 77:109-131.

Annunziatellis, A.; Beaubien, S. E.; Bigi, S.; Ciotoli, G.; Coltella, M.; Lombardi, S. 2008. "Gas migration along fault systems and through the vadose zone in the Latera caldera (central Italy): Implications for CO₂ geological storage." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 2:353-372.

Apps, J. A.; Zheng, L.; Spycher, N.; Birkholzer, J. T.; Kharaka, Y.; Thordsen, J.; Kakouros, E.; Trautz, R. 2011. "Transient changes in shallow groundwater chemistry during the MSU ZERT CO₂ injection experiment." *Energy Procedia* 4:3231-3238.

Apps, J. A.; Zheng, L.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, T.; Birkholzer, J. T. 2010. "Evaluation of potential changes in groundwater quality in response to CO₂ leakage from deep geologic storage." *Transport Porous Med.* 82:215-246.

Arai, Y.; Sparks, D. L.; Davis, J. A. 2005. "Arsenate adsorption mechanisms at the allophane-water interface." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39:2537-2544.

Ardelan, M. V.; Steinnes, E. 2010. "Changes in mobility and solubility of the redox sensitive metals Fe, Mn and Co at the seawater-sediment interface following CO₂ seepage." *Biogeosciences* 7:569-583.

Assayag, N.; Matter, J.; Ader, M.; Goldberg, D.; Agrinier, P. 2009. "Water–rock interactions during a CO₂ injection field-test: Implications on host rock dissolution and alteration effects." *Chem. Geol.* 265:227-235.

Bachu, S. 2000. "Sequestration of CO_2 in geological media: criteria and approach for site selection in response to climate change." *Energy Convers. Manage* 41:953-970.

Bachu, S. 2003. "Screening and ranking of sedimentary basins for sequestration of CO_2 in geological media in response to climate change. *Environ. Geol.* 44: 277-289.

Bachu, S. 2007. "Carbon dioxide storage capacity in uneconomic coal beds in Alberta, Canada: Methodology, potential and site identification." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 1:374-385.

Bachu, S. 2008. "CO₂ storage in geological media: Role, means, status and barriers to deployment." *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.* 34:254-273.

Bachu, S.; Adams, J. J. 2003. "Sequestration of CO₂ in geological media in response to climate change: capacity of deep saline aquifers to sequester CO₂ in solution." *Energy Convers. Manage.* 44:3151-3175.

Bachu, S.; Shaw, J. 2003. "Evaluation of the CO₂ sequestration capacity in Alberta's oil and gas reservoirs at depletion and the effect of underlying aquifers." *J. Can. Petrol. Technol.* 42:51-61.

Bearat, H.; McKelvy, M. J.; Chizmeshya, A. V. G.; Gormley, D.; Nunez, R.; Carpenter, R. W.; Squires, K.; Wolf, G. H. 2006. "Carbon sequestration via aqueous olivine mineral carbonation: Role of passivating layer formation." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 40:4802-4808.

Benson, L. V.; Teague, L. S. 1982. "Diagenesis of basalts from the Pasco Basin, Washington; I, distribution and composition of secondary mineral phases." *J. Sediment. Res.* 52:595-613.

Benson, S. M.; Cole, D. R. 2008. "CO₂ sequestration in deep sedimentary formations." *Elements* 4: 325-331.

Bergman, P. D.; Winter, E. M. 1995. "Disposal of carbon dioxide in aquifers in the U.S." *Energy Convers. Manage* 36:523-526.

Birkholzer, J. T.; Apps, J. A.; Zheng, L.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, T.; Tsang, C.-F. 2012. "Research project on CO₂ geological storage and groundwater resources: water quality effects caused by CO₂ intrusion into shallow groundwater." Accessed June 27, 2012, at http://www.osti.gov/bridge/product.biblio.jsp?query_id=0&page=0&osti_id=944435.

Blair, N. E.; Aller, R. C. 1995. "Anaerobic methane oxidation on the Amazon shelf." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 59:3707-3715.

Bowell, R. J. 1994. "Sorption of arsenic by iron oxides and oxyhydroxides in soils." *Appl. Geochem.* 9:279-286.

Bradbury, M. H.; Baeyens, B. 1999. "Modelling the sorption of Zn and Ni on Ca-montmorillonite." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 63:325-336.

Carneiro, J. F. 2009. "Numerical simulations on the influence of matrix diffusion to carbon sequestration in double porosity fissured aquifers." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 3:431-443.

Carroll, S.; Hao, Y.; Aines, R. 2009. "Geochemical detection of carbon dioxide in dilute aquifers." *Geochem. Trans.* 10:4.

Celia, M. A.; Bachu, S. 2003. "Geological sequestration of CO₂: is leakage unavoidable and acceptable?" In *Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies - 6th International Conference*, Eds. Gale, J.; Kaya, Y., Pergamon, Oxford, pp 477-482.

Celia, M. A.; Nordbotten, J. M. 2009. "Practical modeling approaches for geological storage of carbon dioxide." *Ground Water* 47:627-638.

Chapelle, F. H.; O'Neill, K.; Bradley, P. M.; Methe, B. A.; Ciufo, S. A.; Knobel, L. L.; Lovley, D. R. 2002. "A hydrogen-based subsurface microbial community dominated by methanogens." *Nature* 415:312-315.

Chen, Y.; Matsumoto, R.; Paull, C. K.; Ussler, W., III; Lorenson, T.; Hart, P.; Winters, W. 2007. "Methane-derived authigenic carbonates from the northern Gulf of Mexico - MD02 cruise." *J. Geochem. Explorat.* 95:1-15.

Damen, K.; Faaij, A.; van Bergen, F.; Gale, J.; Lysen, E. 2005. "Identification of early opportunities for CO₂ sequestration-worldwide screening for CO₂-EOR and CO₂-ECBM projects." *Energy* 30:1931-1952.

Davranche, M.; Bollinger, J.-C. 2000. "Release of metals from iron oxyhydroxides under reductive conditions: effect of metal/solid interactions." *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.* 232:165-173.

De Choudens-Sánchez, V.; González, L. A. 2009. "Calcite and aragonite precipitation under controlled instantaneous supersaturation: elucidating the role of CaCO3 saturation state and Mg/Ca ratio on calcium carbonate polymorphism." *J. Sediment. Res.* 79, 363-376.

Dean, W. E.; Forester, R. M.; Bright, J.; Anderson, R. Y. 2007. "Influence of the diversion of Bear River into Bear Lake (Utah and Idaho) on the environment of deposition of carbonate minerals." *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 52:1094-1111.

Donda, F.; Volpi, V.; Persoglia, S.; Parushev, D. 2011. "CO₂ storage potential of deep saline aquifers: The case of Italy." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 5:327-335.

Dong, H. 2010. "Mineral-microbe interactions: a review." Front. Earth Sci. China 4:127-147.

Douglas, S.; Beveridge, T. J. 1998. "Mineral formation by bacteria in natural microbial communities." *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 26:79-88.

Duan, Z. H.; Sun, R. 2003. "An improved model calculating CO₂ solubility in pure water and aqueous NaCl solutions from 273 to 533 K and from 0 to 2000 bar." *Chem. Geol.* 193:257-271.

Edmunds, W. M.; Cook, J. M.; Kinniburgh, D. G.; Miles, D. L.; Trafford, J. M. 1989. *Trace-Element Occurrence In British Groundwaters*. SD/89/3, British Geological Survey Report, Hydrogeology Series.

Edwards, K. J.; Bond, P. L.; Druschel, G. K.; McGuire, M. M.; Hamers, R. J.; Banfield, J. F. 2000. "Geochemical and biological aspects of sulfide mineral dissolution: lessons from Iron Mountain, California. *Chem. Geol.* 169:383-397.

Esposito, R. A.; Pashin, J. C.; Hills, D. J.; Walsh, P. M. 2010. "Geologic assessment and injection design for a pilot CO(2)-enhanced oil recovery and sequestration demonstration in a heterogeneous oil reservoir: Citronelle Field, Alabama, USA." *Environ. Earth Sci.* 60:431-444.

Faiz, M. M.; Saghafi, A.; Barclay, S. A.; Stalker, L.; Sherwood, N. R.; Whitford, D. J.; Flagship, C. E. T. 2007a. "Evaluating geological sequestration of CO₂ in bituminous coals: The southern Sydney Basin, Australia as a natural analogue." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 1:223-235.

Faiz, M. M.; Saghafi, A.; Barclay, S. A.; Stalker, L.; Sherwood, N. R.; Whitford, D. J. 2007b. "Evaluating geological sequestration of CO₂ in bituminous coals: The southern Sydney Basin, Australia as a natural analogue." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 1:223-235.

Ferris, F. G.; Phoenix, V.; Fujita, Y.; Smith, R. W. 2004. "Kinetics of calcite precipitation induced by ureolytic bacteria at 10 to 20°C in artificial groundwater." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 68:1701-1710.

Flaathen, T. K.; Gislason, S. R.; Oelkers, E. H.; Sveinbjörnsdóttir, Á. E. 2009. "Chemical evolution of the Mt. Hekla, Iceland, groundwaters: A natural analogue for CO₂ sequestration in basaltic rocks." *Appl. Geochem.* 24:463-474.

Fowler, D.; Smith, R. I.; Muller, J. B. A.; Hayman, G.; Vincent, K. J. 2005. "Changes in the atmospheric deposition of acidifying compounds in the UK between 1986 and 2001." *Environ. Pollut.* 137:15-25.

Gaus, I. 2010. "Role and impact of CO₂-rock interactions during CO₂ storage in sedimentary rocks." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 4:73-89.

Gilfillan, S. M. V.; Haszeldine, R. S. 2011. "Comment on potential impacts of leakage from Deep CO₂ geosequestration on overlying freshwater aquifers." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45:3171-3174.

Giménez, J.; Martínez, M.; de Pablo, J.; Rovira, M.; Duro, L. 2007. "Arsenic sorption onto natural hematite, magnetite, and goethite." *J. Hazard. Mater.* 141:575-580.

Gislason, S. R.; Wolff-Boenisch, D.; Stefansson, A.; Oelkers, E. H.; Gunnlaugsson, E.; Sigurdardottir, H.; Sigfusson, B.; Broecker, W. S.; Matter, J. M.; Stute, M.; Axelsson, G.; Fridriksson, T. 2010. "Mineral sequestration of carbon dioxide in basalt: A pre-injection overview of the CarbFix project." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 4, 537-545.

Goldberg, D. S.; Kent, D. V.; Olsen, P. E. 2010. "Potential on-shore and off-shore reservoirs for CO₂ sequestration in Central Atlantic magmatic province basalts." *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 107:1327-1332.

Goldberg, D. S.; Takahashi, T.; Slagle, A. L. 2008. "Carbon dioxide sequestration in deep-sea basalt." *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 105:9920-9925.

Goldberg, S.; Johnston, C. T. 2001. "Mechanisms of arsenic adsorption on amorphous oxides evaluated using macroscopic measurements, vibrational spectroscopy, and surface complexation modeling." *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.* 234:204-216.

Goodman, A.; Hakala, A.; Bromhal, G.; Deel, D.; Rodosta, T.; Frailey, S.; Small, M.; Allen, D.; Romanov, V.; Fazio, J.; Huerta, N.; McIntyre, D.; Kutchko, B.; Guthrie, G. 2011. "US DOE methodology for the development of geologic storage potential for carbon dioxide at the national and regional scale." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 5:952-965.

Goyer, R. A.; Bachmann, J.; Clarkson, T. W.; Ferris, B. G.; Graham, J.; Mushak, P.; Perl, D. P.; Rall, D. P.; Schlesinger, R.; Sharpe, W.; Wood, J. M. 1985. "Potential human health-effects of acid-rain: report of a workshop." *Environ. Health Persp.* 60, 355-368.

Gunter, W. D.; Wiwehar, B.; Perkins, E. H. 1997. "Aquifer disposal of CO₂-rich greenhouse gases: Extension of the time scale of experiment for CO₂-sequestering reactions by geochemical modelling." *Miner. Petrol.* 59:121-140.

Han, W. S.; McPherson, B. J.; Lichtner, P. C.; Wang, F. P. 2010a. "Evaluation of trapping mechanisms in geologic CO(2) sequestration: Case study of SACROC northern platform, a 35-year CO(2) injection site." *Am. J. Sci.* 310: 282-324.

Han, W. S.; McPherson, B. J.; Lichtner, P. C.; Wang, F. P. 2010b. "Evaluation of trapping mechanisms in geologic CO₂ sequestration: Case study of SACROC northern platform, a 35-year CO(2) injection site." *Am. J. Sci.* 310:282-324.

Hepple, R. P. 2005. "Human Health and Ecological Effects of Carbon Dioxide Exposure." In *Carbon Dioxide Capture for Storage in Deep Geologic Formations*, Elsevier Science: Amsterdam: 1143-1172.

Hepple, R. P.; Benson, S. M. 2005. "Geologic storage of carbon dioxide as a climate change mitigation strategy: performance requirements and the implications of surface seepage." *Environ. Geol.* 47:576-585.

Herzog, H. J. 2001. "What future for carbon capture and sequestration?" *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 35:148A-153A.

Holloway, S.; Pearce, J. M.; Hards, V. L.; Ohsumi, T.; Gale, J. 2007. "Natural emissions of CO₂ from the geosphere and their bearing on the geological storage of carbon dioxide." *Energy* 32:1194-1201.

Hovorka, S. D.; Choi, J.-W.; Meckel, T. A.; Trevino, R. H.; Zeng, H.; Kordi, M.; Wang, F. P.; Nicot, J.-P. 2009. "Comparing carbon sequestration in an oil reservoir to sequestration in a brine formation-field study." In *Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies* 9 (1):2051-2056.

Hu, Y.; Ray, J. R.; Jun, Y.-S. 2011. "Biotite-brine interactions under acidic hydrothermal conditions: Fibrous illite, goethite, and kaolinite formation and biotite surface cracking." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45:6175-6180.

Huesemann, M. H.; Skillman, A. D.; Crecelius, E. A. 2002. "The inhibition of marine nitrification by ocean disposal of carbon dioxide." *Marine Pollut. Bull.* 44:142-148.

Jacquemet, N.; Picot-Colbeaux, G.; Vong, C. Q.; Lions, J.; Bouc, O.; Jérémy, R. 2011. "Intrusion of CO₂ and impurities in a freshwater aquifer—impact evaluation by reactive transport modelling." *Energy Procedia* 4:3202-3209.

Jacquemet, N.; Pironon, J.; Saint-Marc, J. 2008. "Mineralogical changes of a well cement in various H2S-CO₂(-brine) fluids at high pressure and temperature." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 42: 282-288.

Jaisi, D. P.; Dong, H.; Plymale, A. E.; Fredrickson, J. K.; Zachara, J. M.; Heald, S.; Liu, C. 2009. "Reduction and long-term immobilization of technetium by Fe(II) associated with clay mineral nontronite." *Chem. Geol.* 264:127-138.

Jordan, P.; Benson, S. 2009. "Well blowout rates and consequences in California oil and Gas District 4 from 1991 to 2005: Implications for geological storage of carbon dioxide." *Environ. Geol.* 57:1103-1123.

Kaszuba, J. P.; Janecky, D. R.; Snow, M. G. 2003. "Carbon dioxide reaction processes in a model brine aquifer at 200 degrees C and 200 bars: implications for geologic sequestration of carbon." *Appl. Geochem.* 18:1065-1080.

Kaur, N.; Singh, B.; Kennedy, B. J. 2009. "Copper substitution alone and in the presence of chromium, zinc, cadmium and lead in goethite (α-FeOOH)." *Clay Minerals* 44:293-310.

Keating, E. H.; Fessenden, J.; Kanjorski, N.; Koning, D. J.; Pawar, R. 2010. "The impact of CO₂ on shallow groundwater chemistry: observations at a natural analog site and implications for carbon sequestration. *Environ. Earth Sci.* **2010**, *60*, 521-536.

Keating, E. H.; Hakala, J. A.; Viswanathan, H.; Capo, R.; Stewart, B.; Gardiner, J.; Guthrie, G.; William Carey, J.; Fessenden, J. 2011. "The challenge of predicting groundwater quality impacts in a CO₂

leakage scenario: Results from field, laboratory, and modeling studies at a natural analog site in New Mexico, USA." *Energy Procedia* 4:3239-3245.

Kenward, P. A.; Goldstein, R. H.; GonzÁLez, L. A.; Roberts, J. A. 2009. "Precipitation of low-temperature dolomite from an anaerobic microbial consortium: the role of methanogenic Archaea." *Geobiology* 7:556-565.

Kharaka, Y. K.; Cole, D. R.; Hovorka, S. D.; Gunter, W. D.; Knauss, K. G.; Freifeld, B. M. 2006. "Gaswater-rock interactions in Frio Formation following CO₂ injection: Implications for the storage of greenhouse gases in sedimentary basins." *Geology* 34:577-580.

Kharaka, Y. K.; Thordsen, J. J.; Kakouros, E.; Ambats, G.; Herkelrath, W. N.; Beers, S. R.; Birkholzer, J. T.; Apps, J. A.; Spycher, N. F.; Zheng, L. E.; Trautz, R. C.; Rauch, H. W.; Gullickson, K. S. 2010. "Changes in the chemistry of shallow groundwater related to the 2008 injection of CO₂ at the ZERT field site, Bozeman, Montana." *Environ. Earth Sci.* 60:273-284.

Kirk, M. F. 2011. "Variation in energy available to populations of subsurface anaerobes in response to geological carbon storage." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45:6676–6682.

Klusman, R. W. 2003. "Rate measurements and detection of gas microseepage to the atmosphere from an enhanced oil recovery/sequestration project, Rangely, Colorado, USA." *Appl. Geochem.* 18:1825-1838.

Klusman, R. W. 2006. "Detailed compositional analysis of gas seepage at the National Carbon Storage Test Site, Teapot Dome, Wyoming, USA." *Appl. Geochem.* 21:1498-1521.

Kovscek, A. R. 2002. "Screening criteria for CO₂ storage in oil reservoirs." *Petrol. Sci. Technol.* 20:841-866.

Kronimus, A.; Busch, A.; Alles, S.; Juch, D.; Jurisch, A.; Littke, R. 2008a. "A preliminary evaluation of the CO₂ storage potential in unminable coal seams of the Munster Cretaceous Basin, Germany." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 2:329-341.

Kronimus, A.; Busch, A.; Alles, S.; Juch, D.; Jurisch, A.; Littke, R. 2008b. "A preliminary evaluation of the CO₂ storage potential in unminable coal seams of the Munster Cretaceous Basin, Germany." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 2:329-341.

Kutchko, B. G.; Strazisar, B. R.; Dzombak, D. A.; Lowry, G. V.; Thaulow, N. 2007. "Degradation of well cement by CO₂ under geologic sequestration conditions." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 41:4787-4792.

Kutchko, B. G.; Strazisar, B. R.; Huerta, N.; Lowry, G. V.; Dzombak, D. A.; Thaulow, N. 2009. "CO(2) reaction with hydrated class H well cement under geologic sequestration conditions: Effects of flyash admixtures." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 43:3947-3952.

Kutchko, B. G.; Strazisar, B. R.; Lowry, G. V.; Dzombak, D. A.; Thaulow, N. 2008. "Rate of CO(2) attack on hydrated Class H well cement under geologic sequestration conditions." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 42:6237-6242.

Lee, G. H.; Hering, J. G. 2005. "Oxidative dissolution of chromium(III) hydroxide at pH 9, 3, and 2 with product inhibition at pH 2." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39:4921-4928.

Lemieux, J.-M. 2011. "Review: The potential impact of underground geological storage of carbon dioxide in deep saline aquifers on shallow groundwater resources." *Hydrogeol. J.* 19:757-778.

Lewicki, J. L.; Birkholzer, J.; Tsang, C. F. 2007. "Natural and industrial analogues for leakage of CO₂ from storage reservoirs: identification of features, events, and processes and lessons learned." *Environ. Geol.* 52:457-467.

Lin, X.; Kennedy, D.; Fredrickson, J.; Bjornstad, B.; Konopka, A. 2011. "Vertical stratification of subsurface microbial community composition across geological formations at the Hanford Site." *Environ. Microbiol.* 14(2): 414-425.

Little, M. G.; Jackson, R. B. 2010. "Potential impacts of leakage from deep CO₂ geosequestration on overlying freshwater aquifers." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:9225-9232.

Lloyd, J. R. 2003. "Microbial reduction of metals and radionuclides." *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 27:411-425.

Loring, J. S.; Thompson, C. J.; Wang, Z.; Joly, A. G.; Sklarew, D. S.; Schaef, H. T.; Ilton, E. S.; Rosso, K. M.; Felmy, A. R. 2011. "In situ infrared spectroscopic study of forsterite carbonation in wet supercritical CO₂." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45:6204-10.

Lovley, D. R. 1993. "Dissimilatory metal reduction." Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 47:263-290.

Lu, J. M.; Partin, J. W.; Hovorka, S. D.; Wong, C. 2010. "Potential risks to freshwater resources as a result of leakage from CO₂ geological storage: a batch-reaction experiment." *Environ. Earth Sci.* 60:335-348.

Lu, P.; Fu, Q.; Seyfried, W. E.; Hereford, A.; Zhu, C. 2011. "Navajo sandstone-brine-CO(2) interaction: implications for geological carbon sequestration." *Environ. Earth Sci.* 62:101-118.

Manassaram, D. M.; Backer, L. C.; Moll, D. M. 2006. "A review of nitrates in drinking water: maternal exposure and adverse reproductive and developmental outcomes." *Environ. Health Persp.* 114:320-327.

Mason, C. F. V.; Turney, W.; Thomson, B. M.; Lu, N.; Longmire, P. A.; ChisholmBrause, C. J. 1997. "Carbonate leaching of uranium from contaminated soils." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 31:2707-2711.

Matson, P. A.; McDowell, W. H.; Townsend, A. R.; Vitousek, P. M. 1999. "The globalization of N deposition: Ecosystem consequences in tropical environments." *Biogeochemistry* 46:67-83.

McBride, M. B. 1994. Environmental Chemistry of Soils. Oxford University Press, United Kingdom.

McGrail, B. P.; Schaef, H. T.; Glezakou, V. A.; Dang, L. X.; Owen, A. T. 2009. "Water reactivity in the liquid and supercritical CO₂ phase: Has half the story been neglected?" In *Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies 9*, Elsevier Science Bv: Amsterdam 1:3415-3419.

McGrail, B. P.; Schaef, H. T.; Ho, A. M.; Chien, Y. J.; Dooley, J. J.; Davidson, C. L. 2006. "Potential for carbon dioxide sequestration in flood basalts." *J. Geophys. Res.-Solid Earth* 111.

Medina, C. R.; Rupp, J. A.; Barnes, D. A. 2011. "Effects of reduction in porosity and permeability with depth on storage capacity and injectivity in deep saline aquifers: A case study from the Mount Simon Sandstone aquifer." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 5:146-156.

Metz, B.; Davidson, O.; de Coninck, H.; Loos, M.; Meyer, L. 2005. *Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage-Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

Michael, K.; Golab, A.; Shulakova, V.; Ennis-King, J.; Allinson, G.; Sharma, S.; Aiken, T. 2010. "Geological storage of CO₂ in saline aquifers—A review of the experience from existing storage operations." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 4:659-667.

Michaelis, W.; Seifert, R.; Nauhaus, K.; Treude, T.; Thiel, V.; Blumenberg, M.; Knittel, K.; Gieseke, A.; Peterknecht, K.; Pape, T.; Boetius, A.; Amann, R.; Jorgensen, B. B.; Widdel, F.; Peckmann, J.; Pimenov, N. V.; Gulin, M. B. 2002. "Microbial reefs in the Black Sea fueled by anaerobic oxidation of methane." *Science* 297:1013-1015.

Mitch, W. A.; Sharp, J. O.; Trussell, R. R.; Valentine, R. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Sedlak, D. L. 2003. "N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a drinking water contaminant: A review." *Environ. Engineer. Sci.* 20:389-404.

Mitchell, A. C.; Dideriksen, K.; Spangler, L. H.; Cunningham, A. B.; Gerlach, R. 2010. "Microbially enhanced carbon capture and storage by mineral-trapping and solubility-trapping." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:5270-5276.

Mitchell, A. C.; Ferris, F. G. 2005. "The coprecipitation of Sr into calcite precipitates induced by bacterial ureolysis in artificial groundwater: temperature and kinetic dependence." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 69:4199-4210.

Mito, S.; Xue, Z.; Ohsumi, T. 2008. "Case study of geochemical reactions at the Nagaoka CO₂ injection site, Japan." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 2:309-318.

Moore, J.; Adams, M.; Allis, R.; Lutz, S.; Rauzi, S. 2005. "Mineralogical and geochemical consequences of the long-term presence of CO_2 in natural reservoirs: An example from the Springerville–St. Johns Field, Arizona, and New Mexico, U.S.A." *Chem. Geol.* 217:365-385.

Nickson, R. T.; McArthur, J. M.; Ravenscroft, P.; Burgess, W. G.; Ahmed, K. M. 2000. "Mechanism of arsenic release to groundwater, Bangladesh and West Bengal." *Appl. Geochem.* 15:403-413.

Nordbotten, J. M.; Celia, M. A.; Bachu, S.; Dahle, H. K. 2005. "Semianalytical solution for CO₂ leakage through an abandoned well." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39:602-611.

Noubactep, C.; Chen-Braucher, D.; Schlothauer, T. 2008. "Arsenic release from a natural rock under near-natural oxidizing conditions." *Engineer. Life Sci.* 8:622-630.

Oldenburg, C. M.; Unger, A. J. A. 2003. "On leakage and seepage from geologic carbon sequestration sites: unsaturated zone attenuation." *Vadose Zone J.* 2:287-296.

Opiso, E.; Sato, T.; Yoneda, T. 2009. "Adsorption and co-precipitation behavior of arsenate, chromate, selenate and boric acid with synthetic allophane-like materials." *J. Hazard. Mater.* 170:79-86.

Pacala, S. W. 2003. "Global constraints on reservoir leakage." In *Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies - 6th International Conference*, Eds. Gale, J.; Kaya, Y., Pergamon, Oxford, pp 267-272.

Paige, C. R.; Snodgrass, W. J.; Nicholson, R. V.; Scharer, J. M. 1997. "An arsenate effect on ferrihydrite dissolution kinetics under acidic oxic conditions." *Water Research* 31:2370-2382.

Palandri, J. L.; Rosenbauer, R. J.; Kharaka, Y. K. 2005. "Ferric iron in sediments as a novel CO₂ mineral trap: CO₂-SO₂ reaction with hematite." *Appl. Geochem.* 20:2038-2048.

Peckmann, J.; Reimer, A.; Luth, U.; Luth, C.; Hansen, B. T.; Heinicke, C.; Hoefs, J.; Reitner, J., 2001. "Methane-derived carbonates and authigenic pyrite from the northwestern Black Sea." *Mar. Geol.* 177:129-150.

Pedersen, K.; Ekendahl, S. 1992. "Assimilation of CO₂ and introduced organic-compounds by bacterial communities in groundwater from southeastern Sweden deep crystalline bedrock." *Microb. Ecol.* 23:1-14.

Poinssot, C.; Baeyens, B.; Bradbury, M. H. 1999. "Experimental and modelling studies of caesium sorption on illite." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 63:3217-3227.

Power, I. M.; Wilson, S. A.; Small, D. P.; Dipple, G. M.; Wan, W.; Southam, G. 2011. "Microbially mediated mineral carbonation: roles of phototrophy and heterotrophy." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45:9061-8.

Raczuk, J. 2010. "Nitrogen compounds in well water as a factor of a health risk to the Macijowice commune inhabitants (Mazowieckie Voivodeship)." *Arch. Environ. Prot.* 36:31-39.

Rashid, M.; Kang, Y. M.; Sakurai, K. 2002. "Selenium chemistry in amorphous iron (hydr)oxide-applied soil as influenced by redox potential (Eh) and pH." *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 48:261-269.

Regnault, O.; Lagneau, V.; Catalette, H.; Schneider, H. 2005. "Experimental study of pure mineral phases/supercritical CO₂ reactivity: implications for geological CO₂ sequestration." *C. R. Geoscience* 337:1331-1339.

Roberts, J. A.; Bennett, P. C.; Gonzalez, L. A.; Macpherson, G. L.; Milliken, K. L. 2004. "Microbial precipitation of dolomite in methanogenic groundwater." *Geology* 32:277-280.

Ross, H. E.; Hagin, P.; Zoback, M. D. 2009. "CO(2) storage and enhanced coalbed methane recovery: Reservoir characterization and fluid flow simulations of the Big George coal, Powder River Basin, Wyoming, USA." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 3:773-786.

Rovira, M.; Giménez, J.; Martínez, M.; Martínez-Lladó, X.; de Pablo, J.; Martí, V.; Duro, L. 2008. "Sorption of selenium(IV) and selenium(VI) onto natural iron oxides: goethite and hematite." *J. Hazard. Mater.* 150:279-284.

Saadatpoor, E.; Bryant, S.; Sepehrnoori, K. 2010. "New trapping mechanism in carbon sequestration." *Transport Porous Med.* 82:3-17.

Saalfield, S. L.; Bostick, B. C. 2010. "Synergistic effect of calcium and bicarbonate in enhancing arsenate release from ferrihydrite." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 74:5171-5186.

Sandor, J.; Kiss, I.; Farkas, O.; Ember, I. 2001. "Association between gastric cancer mortality and nitrate content of drinking water: ecological study on small area inequalities." *Eur. J. Epidem.* 17:443-447.

Sasaki, K.; Takatsugi, K.; Ishikura, K.; Hirajima, T. 2010. "Spectroscopic study on oxidative dissolution of chalcopyrite, enargite and tennantite at different pH values." *Hydrometallurgy* 100:144-151.

Scherer, G. W.; Kutchko, B.; Thaulow, N.; Duguid, A.; Mook, B. 2011. "Characterization of cement from a well at Teapot Dome Oil Field: Implications for geological sequestration." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 5:115-124.

Shaffer, G. 2010. "Long-term effectiveness and consequences of carbon dioxide sequestration." *Nat. Geosci.* 3:464-467.

Shao, H.; Ray, J. R.; Jun, Y.-S. 2010s. "Dissolution and precipitation of clay minerals under geologic CO₂ sequestration conditions: CO₂ –brine–phlogopite interactions." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:5999-6005.

Shao, H.; Ray, J. R.; Jun, Y.-S. 2010b. "Dissolution and precipitation of clay minerals under geologic CO(2) sequestration conditions: CO(2)-brine-phlogopite interactions." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:5999-6005.

Shao, H.; Ray, J. R.; Jun, Y.-S. 2011. "Effects of salinity and the extent of water on supercritical CO(2)-induced phlogopite dissolution and secondary mineral formation." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45:1737-1743.

Skinner, L. 2003. "Well control and intervention: CO_2 blowouts: An emerging problem." Gulf: Houston, Texas, ETATS-UNIS, 224 (1): 4.

Smedley, P. L.; Kinniburgh, D. G. 2002. "A review of the source, behaviour and distribution of arsenic in natural waters." *Appl. Geochem.* 17:517-568.

Smyth, R. C.; Hovorka, S. D.; Lu, J. M.; Romanak, K. D.; Partin, J. W.; Wong, C.; Yang, C. B. 2009. "Assessing risk to fresh water resources from long term CO₂ injection - laboratory and field studies." In *Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies 9*, Elsevier Science Bv: Amsterdam 1:1957-1964.

Soong, Y.; Goodman, A. L.; McCarthy-Jones, J. R.; Baltrus, J. P. 2004. "Experimental and simulation studies on mineral trapping of CO₂ with brine." *Energy Convers. Manage.* 45:1845-1859.

Sorai, M.; Ohsumi, T.; Ishikawa, M. 2003. "Measurements of feldspar dissolution rates under supercritical CO2-water-mineral system based on nanoscale surface observation." Elsevier Science Bv: Amsterdam, pp 457-462.

Stevens, T. O.; McKinley, J. P. 1995. "Lithoautotrophic microbial ecosystems in deep basalt aquifers." *Science* 270:450-454.

Tobler, D. J.; Cuthbert, M. O.; Greswell, R. B.; Riley, M. S.; Renshaw, J. C.; Handley-Sidhu, S.; Phoenix, V. R. 2011. "Comparison of rates of ureolysis between Sporosarcina pasteurii and an indigenous groundwater community under conditions required to precipitate large volumes of calcite." *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 75:3290-3301.

van der Zwaan, B.; Gerlagh, R. 2009. "Economics of geological CO₂ storage and leakage." *Climatic Change* 93:285-309.

vanBeelen, P.; FleurenKemila, A. K. 1997. "Influence of pH on the toxic effects of zinc, cadmium, and pentachlorophenol on pure cultures of soil microorganisms." *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16:146-153.

Vasconcelos, C.; McKenzie, J. A. 1997. "Microbial mediation of modern dolomite precipitation and diagenesis under anoxic conditions (Lagoa Vermelha, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil)." *J. Sediment. Res.* 67:378-390.

Vingiani, S.; Righi, D.; Petit, S.; Terribile, F. 2004. "Mixed-layer kaolinite-smectite minerals in redblack soil sequence from basalt in Sardinia (Italy)." *Clay Clay Miner*. 52:473-483.

Vong, C. Q.; Jacquemet, N.; Picot-Colbeaux, G.; Lions, J.; Rohmer, J.; Bouc, O. 2011. "Reactive transport modeling for impact assessment of a CO₂ intrusion on trace elements mobility within fresh groundwater and its natural attenuation for potential remediation." *Energy Procedia* 4:3171-3178.

Wang, A. S.; Angle, J. S.; Chaney, R. L.; Delorme, T. A.; McIntosh, M. 2006. "Changes in soil biological activities under reduced soil pH during Thlaspi caerulescens phytoextraction." *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 38:1451-1461.

Wang, S.; Jaffe, P. R. 20004. "Dissolution of a mineral phase in potable aquifers due to CO₂ releases from deep formations; effect of dissolution kinetics." *Energy Convers. Manage.* 45:2833-2848.

Wei, Y.; Maroto-Valer, M.; Steven, M. D. 2011. "Environmental consequences of potential leaks of CO₂ in soil." *Energy Procedia* 4: 3224-3230.

White, C. M.; Smith, D. H.; Jones, K. L.; Goodman, A. L.; Jikich, S. A.; LaCount, R. B.; DuBose, S. B.; Ozdemir, E.; Morsi, B. I.; Schroeder, K. T. 2005. "Sequestration of carbon dioxide in coal with enhanced coalbed methane recovery-a review." *Energ. Fuel* 19:659-724.

Wilkin, R. T.; DiGiulio, D. C., Geochemical impacts to groundwater from geologic carbon sequestration: Controls on pH and inorganic carbon concentrations from reaction path and kinetic modeling. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:4821-4827.

Wilkinson, M.; Haszeldine, R. S.; Fallick, A. E.; Odling, N.; Stoker, S. J.; Gatliff, R. W. 2009. "CO₂-Mineral reaction in a natural analogue for CO₂ storage—implications for modeling." *J. Sediment. Res.* 79:486-494.

Wilson, E. J.; Friedmann, S. J.; Pollak, M. F. 2007. "Research for deployment: Incorporating risk, regulation, and liability for carbon capture and sequestration." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 41:5945-5952.

Wu, B.; Shao, H.; Wang, Z.; Hu, Y.; Tang, Y. J.; Jun, Y.-S. 2010. "Viability and metal reduction of Shewanella oneidensis MR-1 under CO₂ stress: Implications for ecological effects of CO₂ leakage from geologic CO₂ sequestration." *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44:9213-9218.

Zhang, L.; Ren, S.; Ren, B.; Zhang, W.; Guo, Q.; Zhang, L. 2011. "Assessment of CO(2) storage capacity in oil reservoirs associated with large lateral/underlying aquifers: Case studies from China." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control* 5:1016-1021.

Zheng, L. G.; Apps, J. A.; Zhang, Y. Q.; Xu, T. F.; Birkholzer, J. T. 2009. "On mobilization of lead and arsenic in groundwater in response to CO₂ leakage from deep geological storage." *Chem. Geol.* 268:281-297.

Zheng, L.; Apps, J. A.; Spycher, N.; Birkholzer, J. T.; Kharaka, Y. K.; Thordsen, J.; Beers, S. R.; Herkelrath, W. N.; Kakouros, E.; Trautz, R. C. In Press. "Geochemical modeling of changes in shallow groundwater chemistry observed during the MSU-ZERT CO2 injection experiment." *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control.*

Zheng, L.; Spycher, N.; Birkholzer, J.; Xu, T.; Kharaka, Y. 2012. *Technical Report: Modeling Studies on the Transport of Benzene and H₂S in CO₂-Water Systems.*" LBNL-4339E, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Accessed June 27, 2012, at http://escholarship.org/uc/item/121205mq.

Appendix A

Model Input Data, Modeling Approach and Construction of Pourbaix (pH-Eh) Diagrams

Appendix A

Model Input Data, Modeling Approach and Construction of Pourbaix (pH-Eh) Diagrams

Input data used for geochemical modeling was taken from Zheng et al. (2009) and Birkholzer et al. (2012); these data represent the mineralogy and groundwater composition of a reduced aquifer along the eastern coastal plain of the United States. Some substitutions were made for various minerals due to differences in the thermodynamic database used (Tables A.1 and A.2). Initial pH and Eh of the system was 7.6 and –0.23 V, respectively (Zheng et al. 2012). All simulations were done using the React module of Geochemist Workbench (release 6.0) with the Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory combined thermodynamic database (thermo.com.V8.R6+.dat). Simulations were set up as a one-dimensional flow experiment with kinetic reaction pathway. The rate equation used for kinetic reaction modeling was of the form:

$$r = A_s k_{25} (1 - Q/K) (a_{\rm H^+})^n$$

where

 $A_{s} = \text{Mineral surface area } (\text{cm}^{2} \text{ g}^{-1})$ $k_{25} = \text{Rate constant (mol cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1})$ Q and K = Activity product and equilibrium constant, respectively for the dissolution reaction $a_{\text{H}^{+}} = \text{Activity of H}^{+}$ $n = \text{"Power" of H}^{+} \text{ in the rate law.}$

Values used for all kinetic parameters are provided in Table A.1. In cases where *n* is not specified, the rate equation used is reduced to the following:

$$r = A_s k_{25} (1 - Q/K)$$

where r, A_s, k_{25} , Q and K are as defined earlier.

 $r = \text{Reaction rate (mol s}^{-1})$

Precipitation for minerals listed in Table A.1 are assumed to be governed by the same rate law as described for dissolution and occurs when r is negative. For minerals not listed in Table A.1, their precipitation or dissolution were assumed to occur when thermodynamically favorable. The precipitation of C, ice, and pyrophyllite were suppressed in all simulations.

The initial system at equilibrium contained a rock: solution ratio of 17:1 (100 kg: 6L) and a porosity of 0.145. Solution flow rate in and out of the system was set to achieve a mean residence time of 1 year.

When modeling an open versus closed system (with respect to oxygen), the fugacity of oxygen was fixed to the system initial value (closed system; $\log f_{O2} = -65.9$) or allowed to vary as reactions progress (open system). When modeling the impact of mixed gas streams on aquifer geochemistry, the flow rates of component gases were set to reflect their proportions in the gas stream. For example, to achieve an

overall gas intrusion rate of 10 g d⁻¹ for a mixed gas stream containing 99.4% CO₂, 0.1% CO, 0.1% NO_x, 0.3% SO_x and 0.1% CH₄, gas input rates were set to 9.94, 0.1, 0.1, 0.3 and 0.1 g d⁻¹ for CO₂, CO, NO₂, SO₂ and CH₄, respectively.

Pourbaix (pH-Eh) diagrams were constructed using the Act2 module of Geochemist Workbench (release 6.0) with the Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory combined thermodynamic database (thermo.com.V8.R6+.dat). Chemical activity and speciation of CO₂, S, Fe, As, and Pb were based on groundwater composition data presented in Table A.2. Al species and organo-metal complexes were not considered in the diagrams.

			Kinetic Parar	neters
Mineral	Volume fraction (%)	Surface area, A_s cm ² g ⁻¹	Rate constant, k_{25} mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	п
Quartz	68.9	9.8	1.023 ×10-14	
K-feldspar	6.10	9.8	$3.89 \times 10 - 13$	0.5
Albite ^(a)	9.90	9.8	$1.44 \times 10 - 12$	0.457
Kaolinite	1.70	1.95×105	$6.91 \times 10 - 14$	0.777
Smectite-Ca	1.30	5.64×105	$1.66 \times 10 - 13$	0.34
Illite	2.80	6.68×105	$1.66 \times 10 - 13$	0.34
Nontronite-Mg ^(b)	1.00	9.8	$3.02 \times 10 - 13$	0.5
Calcite	1.50	A	ssumed at equilibrium	
Goethite	6.00	1.47×105	$2.52 \times 10 - 12$	
Arsenopyrite ^(c)	0.51	12.9	$2.52 \times 10 - 12$	
Galena	$8.00 imes10^{-4}$	12.9	$2.34 \times 10-7$	1.0

 Table A.1.
 Mineralogical composition of aquifer material and kinetic parameters used for geochemical
 modeling experiments. Data were obtained from Zheng et al. (2009) and Birkholzer et al. (2012).

(b) Used in place of Chlorite.

(c) Used in place of Arsenian pyrite.

Table A.2. Groundwater composition used for geochemical modeling experiments. Data were obtained from Zheng et al. (2009) and Birkholzer et al. (2012). Concentrations are in µmol L-1. Initial pH and Eh was 7.6 and -0.23 V, respectively.

Species	Concentration, µmol L ⁻¹	
Ca ⁺⁺	$9.0 imes 10^2$	
Mg^{++}	$2.2 imes 10^1$	
Na^+	$2.0 imes 10^3$	
\mathbf{K}^+	$2.7 imes 10^2$	
Fe^{++}	$5.6 imes 10^{1}$	
SiO_2 (aq)	$9.3 imes 10^2$	
HCO ₃ -	$3.3 imes 10^3$	
SO_4^{2-}	$1.9 imes 10^2$	
Al^{+++}	$4.2 imes 10^{-5}$	
Cl-	$2.1 imes 10^2$	
Pb^{++}	1.3×10^{-3}	
H_2AsO_4	$4.4 imes 10^{-2}$	

References

Zheng, L. G.; Apps, J. A.; Zhang, Y. Q.; Xu, T. F.; Birkholzer, J. T. 2009. "On mobilization of lead and arsenic in groundwater in response to CO₂ leakage from deep geological storage." *Chem. Geol.* 268:281-297.

Birkholzer, J. T.; Apps, J. A.; Zheng, L.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, T.; Tsang, C.-F. 2012. "Research project on CO₂ geological storage and groundwater resources: water quality effects caused by CO₂ intrusion into shallow groundwater." Accessed June 27, 2012, at

http://www.osti.gov/bridge/product.biblio.jsp?query_id=0&page=0&osti_id=944435.

Distribution

No. of <u>Copies</u>

ONSITE*

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory

K6-81
K6-81
P7-54
P7-54

*All distribution will be made electronically.



Proudly Operated by Battelle Since 1965

902 Battelle Boulevard P.O. Box 999 Richland, WA 99352 1-888-375-PNNL (7665) www.pnnl.gov

